Page 1 of 37

FILED 02-11-2025 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2024AP2291-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

BRIAN TYRONE RICKETTS, JR.,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL OF AN ORDER STRIKING THE DOMESTIC ABUSE REPEATER PENALTY ENHANCEMENT, ENTERED IN BROWN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN P. ZAKOWSKI, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

WINN S. COLLINS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1037828

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

A defendant is subject to a domestic abuse repeater penalty enhancement when the defendant "was convicted on 2 or more separate occasions" of past domestic abuse crimes. Precedent interpreting the nearby and closely related habitual criminality statute explains each conviction is a separate occasion, even those from the same incident. Brian Ricketts has two separate domestic abuse convictions from the same incident. Does he qualify for the domestic abuse repeater penalty enhancement?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests publication and does not request oral argument. Publication is appropriate under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(1)(a)1., 3., and 5.1 to enunciate what prior convictions may be relied upon for the domestic abuse repeater penalty enhancement in Wis. Stat. § 939.621(1)(b), thereby deciding a substantial matter of continuing public interest. Oral argument is unnecessary under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.22(2)(b) because the briefs should fully present and develop the legal theories.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case. The State appeals from a circuit court order granting Ricketts' motion to strike the domestic abuse repeater penalty enhancement. (R. 29.) The State had included the penalty enhancement in the information and complaint. (R. 2; 9.) The State petitioned for leave to appeal from the circuit court order that struck the enhancement. (R. 29.) This Court granted the petition. (R. 31.)

¹ All references to the Wisconsin Statutes are to the latest version unless otherwise indicated.

9

Case 2024AP002291 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-11-2025 Page 10 of 37

Crimes in the Complaint. The State charged Ricketts with battery and disorderly conduct for conduct he committed in April 2024. (R. 2; 9.) The victim was Ricketts' ex-girlfriend with whom he had children. (R. 2:3-4.) The complaint had "punched' that Ricketts explained [the approximately two to three times in the face and kicked [her] in the back about three or four times." (R. 2:4.) The complaint further explained that Ricketts had caused a disorderly disturbance, having called the victim a "bitch" and had refused to leave when asked by her. (R. 2:4.) The State identified each crime as an act of domestic abuse. (R. 2; 9 (citing Wis. Stat. § 973.055(1)).)

Penalty Enhancement. The State included penalty enhancements in the complaint and information. (R. 2; 9.) Relevant to this appeal, the State included the domestic abuse repeater penalty enhancement, relying upon two separate misdemeanor convictions. (R. 2:4.) Ricketts had been convicted of battery and disorderly conduct, as domestic abuse misdemeanors. (R. 2:4.) Ricketts had committed these misdemeanors on the same day in September 2021 and was convicted in May 2022. (R. 16:2, 5.) Based upon those two separate convictions, the State charged Ricketts as a domestic abuse repeater under the penalty enhancement in Wis. Stat. § 939.621. (R. 2.)

Motion and Order. Ricketts moved to strike the domestic abuse repeater penalty enhancement. (R. 15.) He acknowledged having the two separate convictions, but argued the crimes were "one single occasion." (R. 15:8.) He conceded that it was the quantity of crimes rather than the time of conviction that triggered a habitual criminality penalty enhancement in Wis. Stat. § 939.62. (R. 15:4–5 (citing State v. Hopkins, 168 Wis. 2d 802, 484 N.W.2d 549 (1992), State v. Wittrock, 119 Wis. 2d 664, 350 N.W.2d 647 (1984).) He argued that "Wittrock and Hopkins do not apply" to the domestic abuse repeater penalty enhancement. (R. 15:5.)

Case 2024AP002291 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-11-2025 Page 11 of 37

Ricketts relied instead upon a case interpreting a sex offender registration statute in Wis. Stat. § 301.45(5)(b)1. (R. 15:4–8 (citing *State v. Rector*, 2023 WI 41, 407 Wis. 2d 321, 990 N.W.2d 213).) Ricketts alleged the domestic abuse repeater penalty enhancement didn't apply because his prior crimes were a single course of conduct. (R. 15:6–8.)

The State argued the circuit court should deny Ricketts' motion. (R. 19.) It explained that the domestic abuse repeater and habitual criminality penalty enhancements were very similar in intent and purpose. (R. 19:3.) The State argued that these two penalty enhancement statutes should be interpreted the same. (R. 19:3.) The State relied upon Hopkins' interpretation that it was the quantity of crimes that was the critical factor for the penalty enhancement—neither the time of commission nor time of conviction was important. (R. 19:2 (citing Hopkins, 168 Wis. 2d at 810).) The State distinguished Rector because it interpreted a sex offender registration statute in Wis. Stat. ch. 301 that was not closely related to the penalty enhancement statutes in Wis. Stat. ch. 939. (R. 19:2–3 (citing Rector, 407 Wis. 2d 321).)

The circuit court granted Ricketts' motion. (R. 23.) Despite granting the motion, the court acknowledged the habitual criminality and domestic abuse repeater penalty enhancements are in the same chapter and found "the language to be similar between the statutes." (R. 23:7.) The court found that these penalty enhancement statutes were "more closely related than the sex registry statute." (R. 23:7.) Even with such an acknowledgement and finding, the court relied in part on the analysis in *Rector*. (R. 23:7.) It believed the difference in penalty among the enhancement statutes was sufficient to distinguish them. (R. 23:7–8.). The court struck the domestic abuse repeater penalty enhancement. (R. 23.)

Petition and Appeal. The State petitioned for leave to appeal. (R. 29.) This Court granted the petition and ordered that the appeal be decided by a three-judge panel. (R. 31; 33.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court's review of a question of statutory interpretation is de novo without deference to the circuit court's reasoning. *Rector*, 407 Wis. 2d 321, ¶ 8; *Hopkins*, 168 Wis. 2d at 807; *Wittrock*, 119 Wis. 2d at 669.

ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse because Ricketts has two separate prior domestic abuse convictions so the circuit court erred in striking the domestic abuse repeater penalty enhancement.

- A. The plain-meaning rule and statutory construction canons provide a methodology for determining what a statute means.
 - 1. The plain-meaning rule uses primarily intrinsic sources to ascertain the meaning of a statute.

"It is, of course, a solemn obligation of the judiciary to faithfully give effect to the laws enacted by the legislature, and to do so requires a determination of statutory meaning." State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cnty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 44, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. "Therefore, the purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect." Id. Interpreting a statute proceeds under the plainmeaning rule. Id. ¶¶ 43–45.

The plain-meaning approach employs a methodology relying primarily on intrinsic sources to interpret a statute with limited reliance on extrinsic sources. *Id.* ¶ 43. Review of statutory history is an appropriate part of plain-meaning

Case 2024AP002291 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-11-2025 Page 13 of 37

analysis. Cnty. of Dane v. LIRC, 2009 WI 9, ¶ 27, 315 Wis. 2d 293, 759 N.W.2d 571 (citing State ex rel. Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 52 n.9). Statutory history includes previously enacted and repealed statutes as well as changes made to statutes through the years. Id. Statutory history is an intrinsic source that is "part and parcel of a plain meaning interpretation." Banuelos v. Univ. of Wisconsin Hosps. & Clinics Auth., 2023 WI 25, ¶ 25, 406 Wis. 2d 439, 988 N.W.2d 627. The statutory background is distinct from legislative history. State ex rel. Kalal, 271 Wis.2d 633, ¶ 52 n.9. Legislative history is an extrinsic source because it's a resource outside the text of a statute. Id. ¶ 50. Reliance on legislative history is limited to situations such as to confirm a plain-meaning interpretation or resolve textual ambiguity in a statute. Id. ¶ 51.

A statute's scope, context, structure, and purpose are perfectly relevant intrinsic sources for plain-meaning analysis. *In re Commitment of Lombard*, 2004 WI 95, ¶ 19, 273 Wis. 2d 538, 684 N.W.2d 103; *Brey v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 2022 WI 7, ¶ 11, 400 Wis. 2d 417, 970 N.W.2d 1 ("A statute's context and structure are critical to a proper plain-meaning analysis."); *see also State v. Williams*, 2014 WI 64, ¶ 17, 355 Wis. 2d 581, 852 N.W.2d 467 ("In determining a statute's plain meaning, the scope, context, structure, and purpose are important.").

"[S]tatutory language should be 'interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes." Osterhues v. Bd. of Adjustment for Washburn Cnty., 2005 WI 92, ¶ 24, 282 Wis. 2d 228, 698 N.W.2d 701 (quoting State ex rel. Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46). "[T]he plain meaning is seldom determined in a vacuum." Id. "[A]scertaining the plain meaning of a statute requires more than focusing on a single sentence or portion thereof." State v. Ziegler, 2012 WI 73, ¶ 43, 342 Wis. 2d 256, 816 N.W.2d 238. It may include looking "to surrounding

Case 2024AP002291 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-11-2025 Page 14 of 37

statutes to determine plain meaning." Saint John's Communities, Inc. v. City of Milwaukee, 2022 WI 69, ¶ 23, 404 Wis. 2d 605, 982 N.W.2d 78. "[T]he context of a statutory scheme is important to the plain meaning of the text" because "[s]tatutes are to be construed and harmonized with one another when possible." Townsend v. ChartSwap, LLC, 2021 WI 86, ¶ 16, 399 Wis. 2d 599, 967 N.W.2d 21.

"Properly applied, the plain-meaning approach is not 'literalistic'; rather, the ascertainment of meaning involves a 'process of analysis' focused on deriving the fair meaning of the text itself." Brey, 400 Wis. 2d 417, ¶ 11 (citing State ex rel. Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶¶ 46, 52). "Literalness may strangle meaning." Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts, 355 (2012) (quoting Utah Junk Co. v. Porter, 328 U.S. 39, 44 (1946)), quoted in Brey, 400 Wis. 2d 417, ¶ 11. A court should reject a "hyper-literal approach" because "[s]tatutory interpretation centers on the 'ascertainment of meaning,' not the recitation of words in isolation." Brey, 400 Wis. 2d 417, ¶ 13 (citing State ex rel. Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 47). A plain-meaning approach cannot contravene a "contextually manifest statutory purpose." State ex rel. Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 49.

2. Canons of statutory construction aid in ascertaining the meaning of a statute.

This Court's "consideration of a statute's language and context is guided by well-established canons of statutory construction." *Belding v. Demoulin*, 2014 WI 8, ¶ 17, 352 Wis. 2d 359, 843 N.W.2d 373. Three canons of statutory construction are particularly relevant and useful here: (1) related-statutes; (2) prior-construction; and (3) harmonious-reading. The statutory interpretation principles articulated in *Kalal* conform with these three canons. *See Rector*, 407 Wis. 2d 321, \P 25 (citing *Kalal* within the context of the prior-

Case 2024AP002291 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-11-2025 Page 15 of 37

construction canon); James v. Heinrich, 2021 WI 58, ¶¶ 19–20, 397 Wis. 2d 517, 960 N.W.2d 350 (citing Kalal within the context of the related-statutes canon); State v. Hemp, 2014 WI 129, ¶ 29, 359 Wis. 2d 320, 856 N.W.2d 811 (citing Kalal within the context of the harmonious-reading canon); see also In re T.L.E.-C., 2021 WI 56, ¶ 30, 397 Wis. 2d 462, 960 N.W.2d 391 (citing Hemp, 359 Wis. 2d 320, ¶ 29, as applying the harmonious-reading canon). While not rules of law, "[c]anons of statutory interpretation are aids to ascertain[] the meaning of a statute." State v. Popenhagen, 2008 WI 55, ¶ 42, 309 Wis. 2d 601, 749 N.W.2d 611.

a. Two statutes that have the same subject matter or common purpose are *in pari materia* and must be construed together.

Under the related-statutes canon, statutes "dealing with the same subject—being in pari materia (translated as 'in a like matter')—should if possible be interpreted harmoniously." Scalia & Garner, supra, 252. This canon "rests on two sound principles: (1) that the body of the law should make sense, and (2) that it is the responsibility of the courts, within the permissible meanings of the text, to make it so." Id. "The rule of in pari materia—like any canon of statutory construction—is a reflection of practical experience in the interpretation of statutes: a legislative body generally uses a particular word with a consistent meaning in a given context." Erlenbaugh v. United States, 409 U.S. 239, 243 (1972) (emphasis added).

The related-statutes canon operates in the same vein as the plain-meaning rule. *State v. Lasecki*, 2020 WI App 36, ¶ 33, 392 Wis. 2d 807, 946 N.W.2d 137. "It is a basic principle of statutory construction that a reviewing court may consider 'surrounding or closely-related statutes' to arrive at the statute's plain meaning." *Williams*, 355 Wis. 2d 581, ¶ 39 n.18 (quoting *State ex rel. Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46).

Case 2024AP002291 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-11-2025 Page 16 of 37

This canon of statutory construction operates in conjunction with the presumption that the Legislature has full knowledge of existing statutes and court interpretations of them. State ex rel. Campbell v. Twp. of Delavan, 210 Wis. 2d 239, 255–56, 565 N.W.2d 209 (Ct. App. 1997); see Erlenbaugh, 409 U.S. at 244 (identifying the presumption within the discussion of the *in pari materia* canon). The presumption is well-accepted. State v. Yakich, 2022 WI 8, ¶ 35, 400 Wis. 2d 549, 970 N.W.2d 12. It aligns with the principle that the Legislature does not intend to create statutory conflict. H.F. v. T.F., 168 Wis. 2d 62, 69 n.5, 483 N.W.2d 803 (1992).

The critical question under this canon is whether the statutes are *in pari materia*; that is, whether they are "relating to the same matter" or "[o]n the same subject." *In pari materia*, Black's Law Dictionary (12th ed. 2024). Statutes with no common aim or purpose that do not relate to the same matter are not *in pari materia*. *Wisconsin Bankers Ass'n (Inc.) v. Mut. Sav. & Loan Ass'n of Wisconsin*, 96 Wis. 2d 438, 454, 291 N.W.2d 869 (1980). But statutes do not have to be enacted simultaneously or refer to one another to be *in pari materia*. *In re Est. of Flejter*, 2001 WI App 26, ¶ 10, 240 Wis. 2d 401, 623 N.W.2d 552 (citation omitted). Statutes in the same chapter on the same subject matter are *in pari materia* and must be construed together. *James* 397 Wis. 2d 517, ¶ 19.

b. A judicial construction becomes part of the statute unless the legislature amends the statute in response to that construction.

Under the prior-construction canon, "[i]f a statute uses words or phrases that have already received authoritative construction by the jurisdiction's court of last resort, or even uniform construction by inferior courts . . . they are to be understood according to that construction." *Est. of Miller v. Storey*, 2017 WI 99, ¶ 51, 378 Wis. 2d 358, 903 N.W.2d 759 (quoting Scalia & Garner, supra, 322). "The prior-

Case 2024AP002291 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-11-2025 Page 17 of 37

construction canon is an articulation of the principle that when a particular phrase has been given authoritative construction by the courts, it is to be understood according to that construction." *Rector*, 407 Wis. 2d 321, \P 32.

A prior judicial construction "becomes part of the statute unless [the statute is] subsequently amended by the legislature." *Wenke v. Gehl Co.*, 2004 WI 103, ¶ 31 n.17, 274 Wis. 2d 220, 682 N.W.2d 405. The Wisconsin Supreme Court "has long been committed to the principle that a construction given to a statute by the court becomes a part thereof, unless the legislature subsequently amends the statute to effect a change." *Progressive N. Ins. Co. v. Romanshek*, 2005 WI 67, ¶ 52, 281 Wis. 2d 300, 697 N.W.2d 417 (quoting *City of Sun Prairie v. PSC*, 37 Wis. 2d 96, 100, 154 N.W.2d 360 (1967).

This canon of statutory construction operates in tandem with legislative acquiescence doctrine. See Est. of Miller, 378 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 51 (discussing the doctrine within the context of the canon). Under this doctrine, when the Legislature acquiesces or declines to change a statute interpreted by the courts, "it has acknowledged that the courts' interpretation of legislative intent is correct." Zimmerman v. Wisconsin Elec. Power Co., 38 Wis. 2d 626, 634, 157 N.W.2d 648 (1968). The doctrine is weakest when there is legislative silence following a judicial decision; that is, the Legislature has left the statute alone. Wenke, 274 Wis. 2d 220, ¶¶ 31–37. The doctrine may be greater and applies when the Legislature amended a statute but declined to revise the interpreted word or phrase. Est. of Miller, 378 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 51.

A corollary to legislative acquiescence doctrine is the principle that the courts are constrained not to alter a prior judicial statutory construction. *Zimmerman*, 38 Wis. 2d at 634. This principle has received some critique, such as when it's a lower court's interpretation. Scalia & Garner, *supra*, 324. But the principle functions better when it's a high court's prior construction. *Id.* at 324–25. Under this principle, with

Case 2024AP002291 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-11-2025 Page 18 of 37

the Legislature having acquiesced to the judicial construction of a statute, the courts have "correctly determined legislative intent, they have fulfilled their function," so the prior construction must not be disturbed. *Zimmerman*, 38 Wis. 2d at 634.

The prior-construction canon governs closely related statutes. Rector, 407 Wis. 2d 321, ¶ 34. "Statutes are closely related when they are in the same chapter, reference one another, or use similar terms." $State\ v$. $Reyes\ Fuerte$, 2017 WI 104, ¶ 27, 378 Wis. 2d 504, 904 N.W.2d 773. "Being within the same statutory scheme may also make two statutes closely related." Id. While this canon is at its strongest when interpreting the same statute, it still applies with less force to related statutes. Rector, 407 Wis. 2d 321, ¶ 32, $see\ also\ id$. ¶ 66 (concurring in part, dissenting in part).

c. When two statutes relate to the same subject matter or have a common purpose a court should harmonize them.

Under the harmonious-reading canon, "[t]he provisions of a text should be interpreted in a way that renders them compatible, not contradictory." *In re T.L.E.-C.*, 397 Wis. 2d 462, ¶ 30 (quoting Scalia & Garner, *supra*, 180). The canon operates under the principle that "there can be no justification for needlessly rendering provisions in conflict if they can be interpreted harmoniously." Scalia & Garner, *supra*, 180.

The harmonious-reading canon comports with the presumption of consistent usage. Under this presumption, a non-technical term or phrase does not change from one statute to another, particularly when the statutes have some relationship to one another. *CED Properties, LLC v. City of Oshkosh*, 2018 WI 24, \P 24, 380 Wis. 2d 399, 909 N.W.2d 136. The greater the connection or similarity between the statutes, the stronger the presumption. *See id.* \P 24 n.12 (citing Scalia

Case 2024AP002291 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-11-2025 Page 19 of 37

& Garner, *supra*,172–73.). This presumption may apply even when a term or phrase is used in a different chapter of the statutes. *See*, *e.g.*, *Est.* of *Miller*, 378 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 35 (relying on the presumption for consistent usage of "civil action").

The harmonious-reading canon and consistent usage presumption operate in alignment with the principle articulated in *Kalal* that statutory language is interpreted "in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." State ex rel. Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46. When two statutes relate to the same subject matter or have a common purpose a court should harmonize them, when possible, to avoid an absurd or unreasonable result. Orion Flight Servs., Inc. v. Basler Flight Serv., 2006 WI 51, ¶ 35, 290 Wis. 2d 421, 714 N.W.2d 130. Application of this canon and presumption adhere to a core principle of our jurisprudence about the importance to promote predictability in the law. See Manitowoc Co., Inc. v. Lanning, 2018 WI 6, ¶ 31 n.26, 379 Wis. 2d 189, 906 N.W.2d 130 (explaining the rationale behind stare decisis).

B. "Separate occasions" in the domestic abuse repeater statute should have a meaning in harmony with the prior construction in the closely related habitual criminality statute.

The habitual criminality statute is an intrinsic source to discern the plain meaning of "separate occasions" in the domestic abuse repeater statute. *Guelig v. Guelig*, 2005 WI App 212, ¶ 24, 287 Wis. 2d 472, 704 N.W.2d 916. The statutes are nearby and closely related penalty enhancement statutes that share a common structure and statutory scheme, *infra* B. 1. A prior judicial construction made clear that each conviction is a separate occasion in the habitual criminality statute, even those from the same incident, *infra* B. 2. The habitual criminality and domestic abuse repeater statutes should have a harmonious construction, *infra* B. 3.

1. The domestic abuse repeater and habitual criminality statutes are *in pari materia* and must be construed together.

The domestic abuse repeater and habitual criminality statutes are in pari materia. They are surrounding and closely related statutes. See State ex rel. Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, \P 46 (statutory language interpreted in relation to surrounding and closely related statutes). They must be construed together. See James, 397 Wis. 2d 517, \P 19 (statutes in the same chapter on the same subject matter must be construed together).

The domestic abuse repeater and habitual criminality penalty enhancements are unquestionably surrounding statutes, as they reside next to one another in the same subchapter. *Compare* Wis. Stat. § 939.62 (increased penalty for habitual criminality) and Wis. Stat. § 939.621 (increased penalty for certain domestic abuse offenses), with Brown Cnty. v. Brown Cnty. Taxpayers Ass'n, 2022 WI 13, ¶ 42, 400 Wis. 2d 781, 971 N.W.2d 491 (surrounding statutes are instructive in reaching conclusion).

The domestic abuse repeater and habitual criminality statutes are closely related. These two enhancement statutes are in the same penalties subchapter in Wis. Stat. ch. 939, subch. IV. See Reyes Fuerte, 378 Wis. 2d 504, ¶ 27 (statutes in the same chapter are closely related). They are part of a statutory scheme governing penalty enhancements in that subchapter, specifically enhanced penalties based upon a person's prior criminal convictions. See id. ¶ 27 (statutes having the same statutory scheme are closely related). Although the statutes may not reference one another, courts have grouped them together as statutes that add enhancements to the penalties. See, e.g., State v. Finley, 2016 WI 63, ¶ 5, 370 Wis. 2d 402, 882 N.W.2d 761 (identifying these statutes among those that enhance a penalty).

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