Filed 03-25-2025

Page 1 of 19

FILED 03-25-2025 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

### DISTRICT III

Case No. 2024AP002291-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

BRIAN TYRONE RICKETTS, JR.,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Appeal from an Order Striking the Domestic Abuse Repeater Enhancer Entered in the Brown County Circuit Court, the Honorable John P. Zakowski, Presiding.

# BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 augustc@opd.wi.gov

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

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The plain text of the statute requires more than the bare counting of convictions and insists that those convictions arise from "separate occasions."
  - A. This Court is guided by the plain text of the statute, with no need to resort to complex canons of construction.
    - 1. Canons are irrelevant when faced with unambiguous plain text.

For the most part, the State's brief relies on the force of interpretative canons to compel this Court's agreement that two cases discussing an entirely different enhancer scheme—the habitual criminality repeater—should control the outcome of this case.

As Justice Rebecca Dallet recognized in her dissent in *James v. Heinrich*, 2021 WI 58,  $\P$  63, 397 Wis. 2d 517, 960 N.W.2d 350, canons should not be used to obscure plain text meaning derivable from "a common sense understanding of the English language."

In fact, there are several problems presented when canons of construction take the place of simple and straightforward textual analysis. First, many of the so-called "rules" of construction are derivable not from precedent but from an extrinsic source—a single work of academic analysis. Id., ¶ 76. Second, some of the "rules" set down in that catalog of potential canons

are, on closer inspection, incompatible with Wisconsin precedent. Id. And, while these tools may be helpful in some cases, such tools have no role when the text itself resolves the interpretative question at issue. Id., ¶ 77.

Even when relevant to textual analysis, such rules are not "gospel." Id., ¶ 78. Canons, in large part, can be a legal fiction that lawmakers themselves are wholly unaware of when making law. Id. As a result, the post-hoc application of such tools derived from academic sources can be flexibly used to distort or obscure the "real" meaning of a statute. Id., ¶ 79.

Accordingly, when faced with clear text evincing a commonsense reading, canons have no place and the text itself is the only relevant guide toward a definitive meaning.

2. The plain text requires separate occasions of conviction.

Here, the statutory text is plain. In order for a person to be a DV repeater, they must have been convicted on "2 or more separate occasions." Wis. Stat. § 939.621(1)(b). If the legislature wanted the person to merely have two convictions, period, it could have said so directly. Instead, the legislature imposed an additional requirement—that those convictions occur on "separate occasions." Thus, two convictions that occur as part of the same occasion fail this plain text requirement.

To get around this commonsense reading of the words in the text, the State relies on canons of

construction and authorities discussing and interpreting a distinct enhancer scheme. However, given the plainness of the text, there is no need to resort to canons. And, to the extent that the cases cited by the State interpret a different legislative enactment and no authority has ever held that *this* statute evinces the same meaning, this Court should abide by the plain text of the statute and affirm.

- B. To the extent this Court feels bound by State v. Wittrock and State v. Hopkins, recent developments in the Wisconsin and United States Supreme Courts undermine the precedential force of those authorities.
  - 1. If the Court feels bound by these authorities, it must recognize that *Wittrock* and *Hopkins* were incorrectly decided and should be overturned.

As noted, the State argues that reversal is warranted given the decisions of the Wisconsin Supreme Court in two cases interpreting the habitual criminality enhancer, which uses similar language: *State v. Wittrock*, 119 Wis. 2d 664, 350 N.W.2d 647 (1984) and *State v. Hopkins*, 168 Wis. 2d 802, 484 N.W.2d 549 (1992).

However, even if this Court accepts the State's proposition that these cases "bind" the Court—an outcome that Mr. Ricketts does not believe to be preordained—these cases are poorly reasoned and ripe for re-evaluation and reversal by the Wisconsin

Supreme Court. Accordingly, if this Court does feel bound by those authorities, it must certify the case for resolution of this important legal question.

In Wittrock, the Court was asked to analyze the language of Wis. Stat. § 939.62, which required the person to be convicted "on 3 separate occasions" in order to qualify as a repeater. Wittrock, 119 Wis. 2d 664, 667, 350 N.W.2d 647 (1984). Although the statute plainly refers to the timing of the conviction(s) ("convicted [...] on 3 separate occasions"), the Court nevertheless found the statute ambiguous. In its view, it was unclear whether the legislature was referring to "the time of conviction or time of the crime's commission" in identifying qualifying prior convictions. Id. at 670.

Accordingly, the Court quickly abandoned any efforts at plain text analysis and instead proceeded to resolve the matter with the aid of extrinsic evidence, most notably a 1950 law review article. *Id.* at 672. The Court concluded the drafters intended to focus on "the quantity of crimes rather than with the time of conviction." *Id.* at 674. As a result, Wittrock was a "repeater" even though two of his convictions were entered simultaneously as part of a criminal case involving one underlying incident. *Id.* 

In 1992, the Court confronted the same legal issue a second time in *Hopkins* and echoed its comments about the meaning derived in *Wittrock*. In addition, the Court concluded that a contrary

interpretation would be disallowed for public policy reasons. *Hopkins*, 168 Wis. 2d at 810-812.

Notably, both *Wittrock* and *Hopkins* were released prior to the Court's landmark decision in *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty.*, 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. As a result, those cases do not utilize the preferred method of statutory construction subsequently articulated by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Kalal*. Instead, *Wittrock* relies heavily on the opinion of a single legislative drafter as expressed in a law review article; *Hopkins* resorts to public policy justifications.

Most problematically, neither case acknowledges the most commonsense reading of the statute—that by requiring a person to be convicted on a specified "number of occasions," the legislature used language that necessarily focuses on the timing of the convictions, not just their overall number. Wittrock conjures ambiguity where none exists and then uses that asserted ambiguity to make the statute say something other than what the plain text signals. Hopkins ratifies and entrenches that error. As the Wisconsin Supreme Court has made clear, precedent based on erroneous legal analysis is not accorded deference under the principle of stare decisis. State v. Johnson, 2023 WI 39, ¶ 25, 407 Wis. 2d 195, 990 N.W.2d 174.

Accordingly, because *Hopkins* and *Wittrock* are poorly reasoned, fail to respect contemporary statutory construction rules, and reach an outcome

which contradicts the plain meaning of the statute, they should be overruled. If this Court feels dutybound to apply those holdings, then its recourse is to certify the matter to the Wisconsin Supreme Court for resolution.

2. In addition, and in the alternative, recent legal developments have undermined the force of these opinions and this Court should acknowledge those changes in deciding this case.

While this Court is of course bound to apply prior precedent—and must therefore certify the matter if it believes that the erroneously decided *Wittrock* and *Hopkins* cases govern—this Court's published jurisprudence also shows that it can reach the merits when subsequent legal developments lessen the precedential force of ostensibly "binding" authority.

For example, in *State v. Seaton*, 2024 WI App 68, ¶ 22, 414 Wis. 2d 415, 16 N.W.3d 20, this Court was asked to determine, in part, whether "in a case involving a sexual assault by sexual intercourse, where the only issue is consent, an unrelated act of nonconsensual sexual intercourse with a different person is not relevant[...]." At first blush, this was an easy question for the Court to answer. The Wisconsin Supreme Court confronted this same issue in *State v. Alsteen*, 108 Wis. 2d 723, 324 N.W.2d 426 (1982) and unambiguously answered "yes."

While this Court is not free to disagree with published decisions of the Wisconsin Supreme Court, Livesey v. Copps Corp., 90 Wis. 2d 577, 581, 280 N.W.2d 339 (Ct. App. 1979), there is no invocation of this rule in the Court's decision. Instead, after confronting the changes in our law in the intervening 40 years, the Court concluded the precedential force of that decision had been called into question. Id., ¶¶ 25-28. Accordingly, it was not required to apply the Alsteen rule. Id.

Similarly, the law regarding separate "occasions" has undergone substantial changes in the intervening decades.

First, in *State v. Rector*, 2023 WI 41, ¶ 25, 407 Wis. 2d 321, 990 N.W.2d 213, the Wisconsin Supreme Court raised substantial questions about the validity of *Wittrock* and *Hopkins* while also definitively holding that the phrase "separate occasion" is not a "term of art" which must have a consistent judicial interpretation throughout our statutes.

Rector challenged another statute related to sentencing: the sex offender registration requirements under Wis. Stat. § 301.45. Notably, that statute (since amended) used language identical to that under review here, and required the person to have been "convicted" on "2 or more separate occasions" to qualify for lifetime registration. *Rector*, 2023 WI 41, ¶ 11. The issue presented for the Court's review also mirrors this appeal, with both parties taking familiar positions:

The State averred "that a person meets the criteria of being convicted 'on 2 or more separate occasions' when that person has been convicted of two or more offenses." *Id*.

In contrast, Rector argued "that a person fails to meet the criteria of being convicted 'on 2 or more separate occasions' when that person is convicted based on charges filed in a single case, and the convictions occur during the same hearing." *Id.* "According to Rector, the State's interpretation of the statute reads out the phrase 'separate occasions' altogether." *Id.* 

Notably, the Court then conducted the plain text analysis called-for in this case and agreed with Rector. In the Court's view, "a separate occasion is an incident or time at which an event occurred, which is set apart from another incident or time at which a different event occurred." Id., ¶ 12. Because "separate occasions" clearly modifies the statute's use of "conviction," then it logically follows that the sex offender registration requirements are activated "if the event of conviction occurred at two or more separate (set apart) times." Id. Thus, convictions stemming from the same court hearing cannot be counted together to constitute qualifying prior offenses: "Convictions that are filed in a single case and pronounced within the same hearing are not significantly 'set apart' or 'disunited,' and so are not 'separate occasions." Id., ¶ 17.

While the Court did not overrule Wittrock or Hopkins, it nevertheless qualified their precedential force by observing that "the operation of the criminal repeater statute appears to be settled[..]." Id., ¶ 25 (emphasis added). Moreover, the Court's plain text analysis cannot help but reveal the obvious inconsistencies in those prior decisions.  $See\ id.$  n. 7. At the same time, Rector emphasizes that the decisions in those cases were driven by questions of legislative intent, without application of the obvious plain text analysis used to resolve Rector's appeal.

Simply put, the language is identical. The textual analysis should therefore be the same. Thus, while *Rector* tried to distinguish its holding by focusing on the unique nature of the sex offender registration statute as compared to the habitual criminality enhancer, these attempts cannot obscure the Court's fundamental and obvious disagreement with its prior interpretation of identical language in *Wittrock* and *Hopkins*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Careful research into the legislative archives shows that there is no substantive legislative history to the DV Repeater statute version under which the defendant here is charged, which was created by 2011 Wisconsin Act 277. In contrast with the regular repeater, for the DV Repeater there is no law review article or committee comment; nor are there legislative advisory committee notes. There is no clear indication of legislative intent to focus on the quantity of crimes rather than the time of conviction.

The second development, discussed in *Rector*, is the United States Supreme Court's jurisprudence calling into question the problematic reading of Wittrock and Hopkins. Thus, in Wooden v. United States, 595 U.S. 360, 369 (2022), the Court was called upon to interpret the concept of an "occasion." It held that, in order to find whether criminal conduct was part of the same occasion, it was necessary to consider the temporal and spatial proximity of the controverted events. This tracks the commonsense reading of separate occasions and, as a result, was a source of persuasive authority for the Court in Rector. Rector, 2023 WI 41, ¶ 16. More recently, the United States Supreme Court referenced the Wooden test in context of a federal sentencing statute. Erlinger v. United States, 602 U.S. 821, 834 (2024).

Taken together, then, the emerging legal consensus is one that rejects the strained reading of *Wittrock* and *Hopkins* and instead restores commonsense meaning to plain text. As a result, the precedential force of these authorities is lessened.

Because this Court is interpreting a different statute than *Wittrock* and *Hopkins*, it should follow the lead of the Wisconsin Supreme Court, distinguish the two statutes, give effect to the plain meaning of this text, and avoid perpetuating the errors of those unpersuasive precedents.

## **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth herein, Mr. Ricketts asks this Court to affirm the circuit court.